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(THIS DOCUMENT IS THL PROPERTY OF HER
BRITANNIC MAJLOTY 'S GOVLRNWLIT

SECRET
P.0.(0)(53)90 cory 10, 3b....
November 5, 1953,

CABIWET
PIRSIA (OFFICTIAL) COBMITTEE

MESSAGE FROI: GENERAL ZAHEDI

Note by Joint Secretaries

Ve circulate for the information of members of
the Comnittee the text of a message Lroum
General Zahedi, transmitted by the Swiss iinister
in Teheran.

(signed) T.R.D. Bclgrave
D. Sonmcrville

CABINAT OFPICS, S.7.1.
November 5, 1953.
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Message de M, Escher & lir, Bden, Secrétaire d'mtat
de Sa lajesté pour les Affaires Itrangdres

(texte approuvé en tous points par le Général Zahedi)

Le Président du Conseil vous remercie sincérement du
message transmis par mes soins le 11 octobre, et dont il
aporécie la teneur amicales Il est €galement désireux de voir
les relations divlomatiqués rétablies le »lus vite possible, et
ansorouve en rincipe votre suggestion de publier similtanément
un comiruniqué 8 cet effet. Pour des raisons gue vous
coimprendrez, il estime cependant que ce communigué ne pourra
gtre publié qu'au moment ol une base d'entente sur la solution
du probldme du pétrole aura &té trouvée, ou & tout le moins au
moment o) une premidre -rise de contact prometteur auvre ét¢é
dtablies Afin d'atteindre ce but, le Général Zahedi croit
oprortun que vous envoyiez & Téhéran un expert autorisé de
parler au nomw du Gouvernement britannique et de 1'Anglo-Iranian,
lequel s'efforcerait avec les autorités iraniennes de trouver
une base d'entente. Pour garder le secret, cet expert .
pourrait se faire wnasser pour journalistes 3i cette progosiylon
ne convenait pas, le Chef du gouvernement vous orie de lui faire
une autre suggestion tendant & engager ranidement des pourparlers
directs au sujet du probléme du pétrole.
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(THIS DOCUI'ENT IS THE PROPERTY OF HER BRITANNIC MAJESTY'S

GQVERNMENT )
SECRET
P.0.(0 8s
November i, 1953, COFrY NO....‘S,@,",

CABINET
PERSIA (OFFICIAL) COMMITTEE

RELATIONS WITH PERSIA

Note by Joint Secretaries.

We circulate for the information of the Committee
the text of four messages from Tehran (labelled H,I,J, and
K) in which Mr. Henderson has reported the Persian reactions
to the message sent in agreement with Mr. Hoover
(P.0.(0){53)97, also described as "London's message G").
Persian counter proposals are summarised in message a.K.

(Signed) T.R.D. BELGRAVE
D. SOMERVILLE.

CABINET OFFICE, S.W.1.

November 1 .
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53oREL
ORAINDI
Message H November 10, 1953,

1 Dellie

Mr, Henderson reports that ad soon as he receivec !
nessage "g", he asked for an appointment with the Migg;tggnggzrl °
Toreign Affairs, Mr. Entezam. In view of the fact that Entezam
was having an audience of the Shah at 10:00 a,m, and Mr. Henderson,

elf, was secing the Shah at 11:00 a.m,, =
té?“:ame,and gsee him immedistely. «Ms, Entezam asked Henderson

In Mr, Henderson's conversation with the Forei
pollowed tae suggestions contained in Paragraphg 1 a% gigéaﬁgiéog?e
message "G".  The Foreign liinister stated that he would prefer not
. to make any comments until he had had an opportunity to discuss
the matter with both the Shah and General Jahedi, adding that he
would appreciate it if A -bassador Henderson would also disocuss the
matter with His liajesty. Entezam continued that after his audience
of the Shch, he was seeing General “ahedi and would let the
imbsssador know later whether or not it appeared that it would be
uwseful for him to talk with Zahedi also.

In the course of the Ambassador's audience of the Shah, His
Majesty told him that Mr. Entezam had described their conversation
to him, and the Shah asked for certain details, which the
ambassador supplied.

His Majesty admitted that logically the British were right in
insisting that the question of diplomatic relations shoulé not have
any connection with the oll problem and that there should be a
resumption of diplomatic relations before an attempt were made to
solve the oil problem. The Shah continued that the difficulty was
that the emotions of the Persian public did not always follow
logical lines, so that the problem was to find ways of satisfying
both logic and emotions,.

Considerable discussion ensued, as & result of which it was
decided between the Shah and the Ambassador that the Shah would
again discuss the matter with Mr. Entezam and that he would also
have a word with General 7Zehedi. lMr. Henderson undertook to keep
in touch with Entezam and it was agreed that consideration of the
matter would be expedited in an effort to enable the Ambassador to
se1d some kind of reply to London today (Tuesday) or tomorrow
(Wednesday) .

In talking to the Shah and the Foreign Minister, Mr. Henderson
sought to stress that the time had come for Persia to make up its
mind to resume diplomatic relations with Great Britain on a basis
vhich would not specifically connect the decision to do so with the
0il problem. Mr. Henderson made the further point that the
Government of Persias should accordingly be devoting its energles
to finding the best way of resuming diplomatic relations on this
basis and preparing the Persian public for this development.
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SEGRET Nevenber 11' 1953

= 11 a, My
MENMO UM

Slaborating on his conversation .with t :
pffoirs ITe Lntezam, that he summarized. 11‘1'%25- 1’&23?2 ggili‘oreign
i, Hendorson says that in splte of the fact thay hagdid b
Lould to present the brightest possible.picture, the Borelgn
S misver Was graatly_dg;measeﬁ at his ageount of -davelopmeggs +
1ondOne The F?rgian ilinister expressed the fear that the Gova
of the United Kingdomwas basing ite attitude on revorts 1|rhj.c};;aimmmG
receiveé regard}ﬂB the internal situatilon in Persiahfrom ¢
nrofessi_onall&',-’1‘°"Briti$h*°1°m°m3‘ Mroy Entezam contirmed that
if Her linjesty's Government were accurately informed they would
Lealize that Persian sentiment was overwhelmingly opposed to
pesUHing diplomatic relations unless there had first been some
indications of an advance in the direction of a solution of the
0il oroblem on a basis which would assure & substantial income to
persia from oil and at the same time not outrage nationalist
sonsibilitiess lire Tntezam was personally convinced that his
couniry's only hope for survival lay in co-operating with the Vest
and that such co-operation would be seriously affected unless there
could be a resumptlon in the near future of diplomatic relations
with Great Britaines '

The Foreign linister therefore thought that Her Majesty's
goverument should try to asslst the Persian Government in worklng
ous soce way of resuming relations which would not have the result
of weakening the internal position of the Persian Government,  In
renly ir. Henderson expressed his understanding of the Iranian
governuent's anxiety. He realised that it was not easy to take a
decision of this kind but nevertheless it was now evident that no
advance could be wade in the direction of an oil settlement until
the resuintlon o relations. It seemed to the Ambassador that
gince Tiie was such an important element in the oll question, the
Persian Government had no alternative than to resume relations
imrediately, and should accordingly devote all its efforts to
geeing how such & resumption could take place with & minimum
unfavourable effect on the Government's internal positions
lir, ontezan comwented that the British were apparently not
intercsted in the idea of sending an emissary %0 Pehran to discuss
the 01l muestion orior to resumin; relatlonse  Mrs Henderson
reminded the llinister that the Dritish Government could not
recornize any connection between the, resumptlon of relations and

the 0il roblem but that perhaps the. joint comrruniqué announcing
the resw>;ion of relations might be considered in such terms as
1lic opinion in Persiae

%0 hove a cuieting effect on Hub

The Minis i ed whether such a communigqué might not
indicate that giié?&?}éﬂ was being made in the direction of an oil
settleent, to which Hr, Henderson replied thet he was unable to
83ealt for ohe British bubt doubted whether they would agree to a
Siecific reference of this sorte —Nevertheless, lir. Lden might
be willinc to make some kind of a sublic statement thab would be
helyfl, Sn foos i6 seomed to the Ambassador thaf The kind of
Statencht that lirs sden evidently had in mind (paragraph L of
London's Jiesscre "AM) contained soume extremely helpful remarks

. Pegarding oil.
/The
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Foreign Minister said that the problem eopeareq
of or?-;:rimg t%e Persian publice Consideravle co_nVersatggnbz ot
and ne finally asked ilre Henderson if the latter thoughy ype ©'ue
British would be willing to send a rfpres‘sentativ_e t0 Iran With
announced purpose of arranging with the Government of Ipgy fop L8
resunntion of relationse The announcemeint that suveh g I‘eiﬁreseihe
tive was being sent would help prepare the Persian public, tg.

The Ambassador told ke Entezam that he could not ansyey .,
question, that he was of the imprescion that the British pgg B;h}s
a revresentative to Communist China several years ago for the s;:
purpose but that they might regard the Persian situation ag Ciuit?

differente

As previously reported by Ilirs Henderson, it was then decy
that ‘r.ir.PEntenam would talk to the Shah and General Zahedi amded
that lir, Henderson would mention the matter when he saw the Shap
later in the day. In the ineantime, Mre Iintezam said that hig
conversation with lir. H: nderson should be yegarded as g Dersopa]
* and purely exploratory one and that he did not want o make any
official comaent until after talking to the Shah and General
Zahedie

lire Henderson continues thait he is seeing the loreign
Hinister again at noone He adds that he has already reporied
his couversation with the Shah in his liessage "H" and that in
addition to waking the points outlined therein the Shah had stresse
that Iran was in a difficult nosition as it was faciny tovee
decisions, each of which was certain to »roduce powerful enemies
for the Government, These decisions were: (1) the resumption
of diplomatic relations: (2) what to do with Liosadeq; and
(3) the dissolution of the lajlis and the announcement cf new
elections. The Shah continued that it would not be easy Tor the
Governnent of Persia to withstand shocking public opinion if it
should izake two of these decisions simultaneously, whereas it
would be foolish to make all three.at onces Since the decision
regarding the resumpiion of diplomatic relations with the U.Ke
could a:arently not be -ostponed for very long and since the
decision with respect to Dr. llosadeg would have to be made
imnediately, it looked as thouch it would egain be necessary to
postpone dissolving the Majlis, The resumntion of dinlomatic
relaslons would be ovposed violently by anti-Mosadeq nationalists
such as liaki, Bagei, and Kashani, If simultaneously vhe Majlis
should be dissolved, these elements might go so far as to cast
thelr lot, at least temporarily, with nationalist elements that
were pro-kiosadeq and even with the Tudeh Partye
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EEMORANDUM
uesa'ge J - November 12, 1953

- inbassador Henderson reports thnt  he
pPoreign Minisier at noon on November 1‘h1v’|rh§g }r}z‘;r&lg&eﬂ Ptons
pe still in'a state of uncertainty. The Minister e iEntezam e
now hard it would be for the Government of Persi gga o somphasized
ciplomatic relations without being able to shbi'st‘h' ° rg?"me
that country some evidence of an advance in the die otion o
gettlement of the oil problem. - rection of a

Hr. sntezam referred to the fact that i ;

public, in various suatements which had baeﬁh;agzdbgeﬁ?mtgzllémgtﬁhe
instructions of the Government, that the resumption cf relatggns °
must awalt some advance toward a settlement of 'hhe"oil'question
therefore it appeared to him that if a decision should be 'baken.
to resume relations without evidence of such an advance toward
an oil settiement he at least should resign.

Ambassador Henderson told the Foreign Minister that he was
not in a position to speak for the United Kingdom but that he was
confident that the latter would agree that in the joint communigqué
:nnouncing that relations were being resumed, or in a statement in
Parliament by a British spokesman, some phrases of not too specific
a character might be Incorporated with the result of making it
easicr for the Government of Persia to answer its crities
and thus rendering the Foreign Minister's resignation unnecessary.

Mr. mntezam again referred to the possibility that an
emissary mizht be sent by Her Majesty's Government to Tehran
to discuss. matters. He told Mr. Henderson that in reply to
inguiries which he had made to the Swiss Minister he had
learned that the latter had not received any reaction to the
sugzestion that a British Government representative come to
Tehran to discuss the principles of an oil settlement.

In reply Mr. Henderson pemarked that he had already
indicated that the British would not be willing to enter
into discussions with the Persilan Government relating to
any substantive matters such asagéfigrgnces ov‘erx' oiiepl‘lor
to the resumption of relations at, moreover, .
doubted thatpthe British Government would be willing publicly
to cand someone to Persia to discuss the resumption of
relations in the absence of satisfactory assurances that

such a mission would be successful..

g confident that the
o8 e e wg:m would meke e conscientious effect

/to

Mr. Entezam comment
mission would be successful if each
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- in ovoreoming ite a1ffiohlties, Tpe .
to aseist tg:tOtgi;aps after all 1t would be preferable fh;iniste,
continued % P to come to Perela in sgcret, to Whic the

tive -

British PeP““‘mtgied that it would not be easy to maingg
in

lir, Hondorson ToPLSC, e visits The Minister said thag it
secreleak should take place, no great harm would have been don it
some X of Persia cotéldpmrglytsag 1t hed agkeq tﬁe

representative to Persia to have a dipect
f?iﬁiﬁstgezgigiig the resunption of diplomatic relationg, °Xch,

. rson pointed out to Mr. Entezam that he would

wuholﬁ.’tgznggch fugther delay t? info:ctl't}n London as to the Miﬁ?:ier:
reaction to the idea of Mr, Eden's sendln§ a message along the llnnf
which Mr. Henderson and Mr. Entezeam had discussed. The Foreigy
Minister replied that he would like to express hils reactigp thl'oug-h
a counter suggestion thet the United Kingdom at once ghouls seng &
represenvative to Tehran, secretly if this were congidereq Prefery
to such views regarding the resumption of diplomatic relationg, -

The Minister asked 1f the Ambassador would summurise the
former's remarks in the form of a telegram to London and show tpe
dpaft telegram to General Zahedi and himself at a dinner which
were all setiending that evening., Mr. Henderson then drafied guey
a summary which the Foreign Minister read alcud to the Prime
Minister at the dinner table and which pboth said was an accurate
reflection of their position. They added that they hoped that e
next step would be for the British CGovernment to be willing to sep
a trusted emissary to Tehran with whom they were confident they
could complete the arrangements for establishing relations.

_ General Zshedi remarked that he hoped the British Government
would understand that Persia was not ettempting to obtain
concessions regarding oil from the United Kingdom in return for
agreeing to resume relations. All that the Persian Government
desired was to try to join with Her Majesty's Government in
finding phraseology that would indicate that a favourable
atmosphere existed for achieving a fair and lasting solution of
the 0il question, -

A% the seme dinner Mr. Entezam read aloud to General Zghedi
end Mr. Henderson a copy of & despatch which Mr, Lang of the Sund
Times had just sent to his paper with reference to the resumpuiol
?? relations and asked whether Mr, Henderson had eny commenits.
lir, Henderson referred to the fact that Lang had attributed to
Mr, Entezam a statement along the lines that the resumption of
relations would be facilitated by an indication by the United P
ingdom that it recognised the nationalisation of the oil industv
in Persia, Mr. Henderson suggested that the Persian Goverament
mﬁd take care not to suggest conditions for resumption of
conﬁ:&on% Which the United Kingdom could not meet, sinc‘%.hrf'-“'ig
rega din that the British would not in sdvance of negotla"mitim
Th% 5 ng oll meke any statement which might weaken their poS 0
comeor:ign Minister replied that all that he had intended Wes
ind.icgti S 1dea that the Bpritigh might make some statement a
that thengBr?.t%Dciliatory attitude, He had not hsd it in miZ ny
Wwords roc ish, prior to resuming relations, should in so M@

ognise the nationalisation of the oil industrye.

A summery op the Forei

e’
in enothep message, gn Minister's statement is going ™
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SECREL
MENORANDUM
Message X November 12, 1352.

The following represents a Burima
of statemenis me{ie to him by the Foraig giérggggazgogege?daraan
\r. Entezam, dur{ng their conversation at noon on I\Tovemb:ra%‘i
ur. Entezam asked for this sumary and both he and Genersl zali
nave approved it as an accurate reflection of what might be thedi
neceasary move tovard the resumption of diplomatic relations, !

"Mr. Entezam had been giving much considerati
question of resuming diplomatic relations and hadthgr(; :gvgggl talke
with Hls Imperial Majesty and with the Prime Minister, General
zanedi, during the last two days on this matter. All were agreed
upon the desirability of an early resumption of relations but the
problem was to find a means of bringing this about without
alienating large sectliong of the Iranian public. In the absence
of some indicetion of an advance toward a settlement of the oil
dispute the public would certainly interpret the reswaption of
relations as a capltuiation by Persia to estern pressure. Tor
this reason, the Govermment decided several weeks ago that an
agreement on the principles of an oil settlement should precede or
accompeny the resumption of relations and hed issued a public
statement to that effect.

It would be extremely difficult for the Government of Iran
to announce the resumption of relations, especially following the
issuance of such a statement, without being able to show at least
some progress toward a settlement of the oil question. Mr. Entezam
was therefcore wondering what Mr. BEden might think of sending an
emissary who had the confidence of Her Majesty's Government to Tehran
Tehran at once for the purpose of discussing this matter with
General 7%ahedi and Mr. Entezam in an informal and frank manners
Given a friendly atmosphere as well as a willingness on each side
to understand the other's problem, it might prove possible during
the course of such discussions to find a way to resume relations
without resultant embarrassment to either Government.

Mr. Entezam believed that until such time as an agrecment
had been reached and a joint communiqué prepared, it might be
preferable for the despatch of this emissary and the ensuing .
discussions to be treated as secret. If, however, there ghould
bo a leak it could be explained that the emissary hed been sen;: at
the Persian Government's suggestion for the purpose of gxihang ng
views regarding the resumption of diplomatic relatioggin; we;{z .
Persia and the United Kingdom. If Mr. Eden Shou}dt 8 w‘gal uto
this suggestion, the emissary could be sent immediately witho

further formalities. On the other hand, if Mr. Eaaguigogigst
prefer, a more formal suggestion along these 1";1;’15 pginister of
be submitted by the Persian Government through the

Switzerland."
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(¥ 1534/87) FOREIGN OFFICE, S.W.{.
Seoret _ May 1, 1954,

Your telegram No. 18 Saving of April 24 reperting your
conversation with the Shah has naturally been of great interest
to us, It secms particularly significant when compared with
Henderson's accounts of his interviews with the Shah and
Huseain Ala.

2. We are not certain how much Henderson told you of his
interview with Ala. But the United States Embasay here have
shown us almost the whole of his telegram although as I have
sald elsewhere, it would be better if you did not mention this.
Ala attacked every single part of the Consortium's proposals
with great vehemence, but, aes wWe would expect when he was
talking with an American, he laid particular emphasis on the
imposaibility.of giving British nationality to the Group Service
Companies. He also repeatedly warned Henderson that the
A.I.0.C. with "the British-controlled" Shell group and the
"A.I.0.C.~dominated” Compagnie Francaise des Pétrolea would
dominate the Consortium and would certainly push out the
American Companies as soon as they could.

3, 'This last warning is perhaps the key to the matter.

On the morning of April 22, Ala is trying to persuade
Henderson that we intend to kick out the Ameriecan Companies;
and in the afternoen the Shah is giving you what seems to be
the clearest hint that we could make some arrangement without
the Aueriean Companies. This looks like a classic example

of the invariable Persian tactics of trylng to drive a wedge
between us and the Amerieans, the more to be regretted because
the Shah's attitude may be of tiritleal importance. We may
hope that your answer to the Shah disabused him of the idea
that a wedge can be driven, but the Peraians being what they are we
cannot be confident. If he or anyone else makes the same
suggestion again we would suggest tha short answer that if the
Americans should withdraw it could only be because the Persians
were refusing to accept reasonable arrangements and we do not
expect the other Companies to have any more interest than the
Americans in unreasonable arrangements.

4, I might add that we have tried to puzzle out what (if our
guees is right) the Shah and Ala were hoping to gain by a split
between the Americans and us in this affair; and we can find
no precise answer. .Whatever emphasls the Shah and others may
lay on the Natiomalisation Laws, a genuinely multi-national
solution seeme almest as important to Persian presentation:
British preponderance in any consortium would hardly do. Perhaps
however there is mo meed to look further for a reason than the
irresistible attraction that such wedge-driving holds for all
Persians. The old advice may be applicable: mnever mind

80 much what the other chap has in mind; make certain that he
knows what you have,

Yo .
iy S Gz

% R. Allen
81r Roger Stevens, K.0.M.G., ¢ )
. Tehran.
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(BP 1534/83) POREIGN OFFICE, S.W.l.

E!§§£T AND May 1, 1954.

Jm%wl-

In Harold Caccia's absence I am replying to your Personal
and Secret letter Ne. 15327/3/54 of April 21, which contained
somp of your preliminary impreseions of the way in whieh
negotiations were going.

2. First, however, we have to congratulate you and your
team on very satisfactory progress towards a payments agreement,
Apart from your own efforts we have presumably to thank the
sensible and practical, as distinct from political, approach
of the Bank Melli. Our own impression was that the Persians
were in fact reconciled to accepting sterling as the currency
of the Consortium, and that their categorical objection to it
was a bargaining manoceuvre designed to improve their position
for the real argument on the extent to which we would give
them convertibility, But whatever the explanation, it is very
encouraging to have out of the way a point on which we might
have had considerable difficulty and little, if any, support
from the other parties to the Consortium,

3. On the debit side we now have the intervention of the
Shah in the most unhelpful sense, The United States Embassy
have shown us Henderson's accounts of his conversations both
with the Shah and with Ala (please do not mention this, since
the Embassy were apparently not supposed to), Reported in
extenso, the conversations seem even worse than was indicated
in your summary. We do not, of course, believe all that the
Shah says. We realise that hie pathological fear of the
extreme rationalists and his constant tendency to compromise
with them may well make him much more obstinate on the main
issues than his own Government., But we cannot help wondering
whether he is not putting the maximum pressure upon the
Americans with, emong other things, the object, which he seems
always to have in mind, of extracting somes more military
assistance from them., On the other hand, we see very clearly
the point which both you and Hendereon have made in slightly
different terme, that it will at best be extremely difficult
for the Government to get the Majlis to ratify a settlement
if there is eny doubt whether the Shah approves it. We must
certainly take his intervention seriously.

L. The current telegrams will have given you our views on
British nationality for the companies; but on this I shall
have one point to add later.

5. I can best explain our own general impressions apd .
policy as follows, We have very little doubt that this is our
last chance of getting a Persian settlement, This is not so
mueh for the reason usually advanced that if we do not get a
settlement Persia will collapse into chaos and communism. Ve

/have

8ir Roger Stevens, K.C.N.G.,

Tehran.



Volume 2: 1954, Part 11

have heard this often enough before. It may be true this
time, though I am sure you will bs the firet to agree that
Pers{an politieal developments ars unpredictable, But we
are as certain as ws can be that if we do not reach s
settlement now we ehall soon find the Pereians managing
their own o0il industry, not of course with complete success,
but with anou%h to put out of the question any idea of our
recapturing it. As you will have seen from the telegrams to
and from Rome, our blockade of Persian oil is now on its
last legs. There are many interests other than the Italians
which would soon be in the field., There is no doubt whatever
that the Persians can themeelves produce crude oil, and we
estimate that, failing a settlement, we should quickly find
them exporting, entirely on their own account, something
between 5 and 5 million tons a year. That we think would be
sufficient to put the Persian industry as far out of our
reach as the Mexican o0il industry now is, and indeed it might
have a worse effect on our other Middle Eastern oil interests
than even a relatively unesatisfactory oil agreement. In our
view, therefors, it will now have to be a very bad settlement
before it is worse than no settlemsnt, I cannot, of course,
say whether such an argument would convince Ministers; but
it is at least a stronger one than the debatable contention
that we mueh]gaach a settlement to prevent a Persian collapsse.
Fa AL
6. But even if it became Her Majesty's Government's poliey
that. an agreamnnt must at whatever cost be reached, we do not
think that we have yet reached the time for any concessions,
and certainly not for concessions on the purely British
interests of compensation and British nationality. The
Persians' first positione were clearly far removed from their
final breaking points. They want a settlement; and we have
nothing to lose at this stage by cbetinacy., We have no doubt,
thersfore, that we can safely adopt what ars after all only
perfectly normal negotiating tactics of refusing to make
piecemeal concessions, and indeed of making concessions only
when we are quite ceriain that they are necessary and when we
can see precisely what we shall get by making them, If any
have to be made at all the first must obviously come on the
questions of management and the method of payment to the
Persians. (We assume that the Persians are in fact ready to-
accept a 50/50 division of profits and that it is the method

159

and not the result which is in dispute.) The first object of the

negotiations is to discover whether the Persians and the
Consortium can sgree to arrangements for the future operation
of the industry and the erux of this question, management and
financial arrangemsnte, mst inevitably be pursued first,

The compensation negotiations will in any case proceed
goparately, end if arguments on the nationality of the
companies should reach complete deadlock we can always reserve
our position on it and leave it for settlement in the final
haggle., Any concession on the nationaslity issue would, in any
case, be a matter for Cabinet decision here.

' T hope that this answers your question whether nationality
of the Companies or compensation is the more important to us.
We should not wish to decide this for the p?BSCnt. Apart

from the general reasons of policy mnd tactics which I have

/given



160

Iran Political Developments, 19541956

given above, we think that it will be much easier to take
such a decision, if we must, in the final stages. If we
had an answer to the question: "Just how wuch more
compensation will we get if we concede British nationality"<
we might find the decision relatively simple.

;mea gl
R. Allen) /
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Sir Roger Stevens
Saving telegram No, 3
January L, 1956,

TEHRAN _TO__FOREIGN OFFIC

Addressed tn Fareign Office Saving telegram No. 3 nf %
January L, 1956, repeated far infArmatien Saving to:-

Bagdad No., 1 (S
Beirut (DEVDIV) NO., 1 (S
Ankara No. 1 (8
Karachi No. 1 (S
POMER No. 1 (8
Washington No. 1 (8

The Minister of &tate Board of Tpade had an audience with
the Shah on January 3. I accompanied him,

2. The first subject discussed was development. The Ministe
took the opportunity to say how much he had been,impressed with
the energy, drive and imagination of M, Rbtehaj“gnd the care wii
which he engaged consultants and contractors. He then referr:zu
to the importance of avoiding administrative delays, also men-
tioning that the practice of inviting too many firms to tender
might in it:elf be a cause of such delays. He touched on the
need to reach decisions quickly regarding the ordering of plant
for the execution of the Mgwlem contract emphasizing that he wa=
concerned that progress should be made under this contract ra-
ther than pressing the claims of British plant manufacturers.
The Shah did not seem to be particularly alive to the problem;
at one point he said that there was inevitably a pause during
the winter months but he hoped everything would get started in
the spring.

3. The Shah then discussed Iran's financial problem with
particular reference to the budget deficit over the next three
years. He was doing what he could to increase revenue and
decr~ase expenditure, but it was very difficult; Iran for
example was saddled with 175,000 civil servants. The Americans
were now showing a more understanding attitude towards Iran's
need for budgetary assistance. The Minister referred at this
point to Dr.#fmini's visit to London saying that it had been
explained to Dr. Amini that 1t was not our policy to put forwarc
the claims of third countries to the U.,S. but that we were pro-
posing in this case to represent to the U.S. authorities the
pressing and largely short term difficulties of the Iranian
economy. The Minister also said that he would report to the
Prime Minister what the Shah had told him about Iran's financia.
problem. The Shah appeared gratified and referred to the Primc
Minister's forthcoming visit to Washington,

b/
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L, He then went on to say that he was concerned lest our
friends would misinterpret western assistance in various forms
to countries in this area which were still sitting on the
fence politically, He himself understood the situation per-.
fectly well but there was a danger that others might not.

The Minister sald that His Majesty was no doubt thinking pri-
marily of the Aswan Dam and he explained the exceptional cir-
cumstances surrounding this project. The Shah said that he
fully understood the importance of keeping the Russians out

of Egypt and he also referred to Anglo-Soviet commercisl compe-
tition for the building of a steel mill in India. what worrie
him was that the impression should be created among countries
in the area, and particularly the smaller Arsb states, that it
paid better to blackmail the Western Powers than to form
alliances with them. The Minister said that Her Majesty's
Government had these points very much in mind and thanked the
Shah for expressing himself frankly on the subject.

5. ~ The shah next spoke of the benefits in the form of co-
ordination and joint planning which he hoped would be derived
from the Bagdad Pact. He sald, inter alia, that he thought
the Iranian Goverhment might benefit by learning from the ex-
perience of the Iragi Development Bgard. He was particularly
interested in close cooperation and future commercial relatic.
ehip with Pakistan. He thought that in the future, there
would be scope for Iran to sell oil, coal and minerals to
Pakistan seeing that Pakistan was short of these products and
her development plans were concentrating largely on irrigation
and agriculture. The Minister said that during his visit to
Pakistan a year asgo he had himself learned that the Paklstani
Government also attached importance teo the development of
clcse relations with Iran; and he welcomed the Shah's views
on the economic side of the Bagdad Pact.

6. The Shah then said that he was greatly impressed with
the mining possibilities in the neighbourhood of Kerman and he
would like to see British experts conduct a survey of mineral
resources in that area. The Minister said he was sure we
would try to cooperate if the Shah invited us to do so. The
2hah explained that he had in mind the possibility of a survey
Jeing conducted by some British mining concern which would be
interested in investing in the exploitation of minerals in

the area, possibly on a joint basis., The Minister said that
this was an important suggestion which he would certainly wish
to follow up on his return to the United Xingdom.

T Speaking more generally of investment the Shah said

he hoped British firms would feel able to invest in the Ipanian
economy and that they would regard it as a good and safe field
for investment. The Minister explained the economic reasons
why this was a difficult time for additional overseas invest-
ment from Britain. He hoped, however, that this would only
be a temporary condition and that in some suitable cases Bri-
tish firms might be able to establish partnership with Iran-
ians in new or existing industries.

8./
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8. The Shah also referred to his project for distributing
pharmaceutical Products - through the Royal Charities and said
that he hoped some British firm like the Imperical Chemical In-
dustries might be ready to assist by engaging in the manufact-
ure of a wide range of pharmaceutical products in common use in
Iran, He thought that there would be a large and growing market.
The Minister said that he hada already been made aware of this
. broposal to buy pharmaceuticals in Britain and understood that
a representative of the Royal Estates was now visiting London,
He undertook td follow up both questions.
9. Referring to the port situation, the Shah said that he
had appointed a first class man, Col. Ali Akbar Zargham, Director
General of Customs and he understood that this had already re-
sulted in doubling the intake of the port at Khorramshahr. He
suggested that it might perhaps be ascertained during the course
of the Teconomic Committee's meeting in Bagdad whether Iran's
port capacity could be supplemented by imports through Pakistan
and Iraqg,

10. The Minister asked the Shah if he would like to send
someone to vislt the Port of London Authority and discuss with
them the problems of port administration. The shah said he weul
consider this.

1. In conclusion, the Shah spoke warmly of the relations now
existing between the Upited Kingdom and Iran referring grateful-
to the £10 million credit,

12. The atmosphere was noticeably cordial, as it has been also
in the case of Mr. Low's interviews with Iranisn Ministers. ™

request has been made or implied for financial assistance in a-:
form.
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Sir R, Stevens

No. 20 D: 2,01 p.m., January 10, 1956
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RESTRICTED FP )M/(;’a:ﬁj
My telegram 581 of August 19.

Press reports today that Prince ALdur Reza (seo
personalities list (1955) page 3(31)) and his wife have
arrived ia London on a privats visit,

2. We had no previous knowledge of the timing of this
vigit and no reason to suppose viail is other than
private.
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Succession to the Iranian Throne

Last night I called on the Shah's half-brother,
Prince Abd-ur-Reza at Claridges Hotel. Earlier in the
day he had tried unsuccessfully to contact me by telephone.
I knew both him and his wife fairly well when in Tehran.

2. They are both on their way back to Iran after being
away for four months on a big game expedition in East
Africa. After having told me what a good time he had had
and how helpful the colonial authorities had been, he
launched into his pet theme of the need to eclear up the
uncertainty regarding the succession to the Iranian throne.
He was aware of the Shah's recent move to get Prince
Ghulam Reza nominated (Tehran despatch No. 142 of December 13).
He talked at considerable length of the dangers both
internally for Persia and externally for the West if
something were to happen to the Shah and there were no
accepted heir-apparent. Although he did not say so in so
many words, the gist of his argument was that he was the
only possible choice. This is an o0ld record which he has
played every time I have met him privately.

3 I confined myself to listening and when ﬁe specifically
asked me for my advice, said that this was an internal
matter for the wise men of Persia to decide.

Ue The Shah is particularly jealous of Prince Abd-ur-Reza's
activities and I think we should avoid meking an offiecial
fuss of him here. He plans to be here until January 20

and may well try to see Mr. Shuckburgh on his return from
Washington, or even a Minister. I advise against this.

I also suggest that you should let Sir Roger Stevens know

of the line we have taken and of anything we may know of

the Prince's activities while over here so that he can

allay any suspicions that the Shah may have that we are
Playing polities with his half-brother.

S The Prince mentioned that the Earl of Hardwick (who
was in Tehran in 1953 trying to corner the caviar market)
had been in touch with him and that he expected to see him
to-day. He mentioned no one else to me.

Mr. Riches
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British RZnmbassy,

SECRET
TEHRAN,

10114/2/56.

January 31, 1956.

,

I enclose a copy of an office minute recording my
conversation with the Shah on January 28, I normally make
a record of this kind for our own purposes quite apart from
any report that I may make by telegram, despatch or letter
on points which call for action or wider consideration. In
this case, though the conversation ranged widely, I do not
consider that there were any such points, (though I am giving
a very general impression of the audience by Savingram,) and
for this reason the enclosed record may be useful to you as
background and for conveying something of the atmosphere in
which the talks are conducted as well as giving an indication
of the workings of the Shah's mind.

2, I shall be glad to know, for future guidance, whether

you would like to have for your own information similar re-
cords in the future. When I was in London last summer, Evelyn
Shuckburgh told me that my reports of audiences with the Shah,
which up to that time I had frequently sent by Savingram, were
too detailed and tended to give too much a blow-by-blow account
of the conversation. I fully accept this eriticism so far as
telegrams and other documents for general (including ministerial)
circulation are concerned and I propose, in future, to be more
sparing with regard to reports in this form making them only
when important points are made or action is called for. It
still seems to me possible, however, that you might find, at
least for a time, that our office records of these conversations
are useful to you personally and for departmental purposes. I
could arrange to send them to you regularly on the understanding
that they were purely for background and that anything which
seemed to require wider circulation would be dealt with separa-
tely, even if this involved some duplication.

yM\.f Wir

doger o,

D.H.M. Riches Esq.,
Foreign Office,
Egstern Department,
LONDON, S.W.1.
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MINUTE
Record of H.M, Ambassador's eudlence with Fis
Iﬁf,eriéi Efé‘;esti on éatggdgg January 28, 32";6

I had en audience with the sShah at 3,30 p.m, on January
28, We talked for one end a half hours. The Shsh geemed very
confident and cheerful and the general tone was unusually easy
and friendly; indeed we slipped so casually from cne tovie to
another that the conversation 1s singulerly difficult to record
I was particularly struck by the fact that almost for the first
time there were no innuendos of suaplcion (even the attribvution’
to others of suspicion of British policy) or any muck raking
over the past. He 414 not ask for help in any form or discus:
territoriasl guarantees.

2, I opened the conversation by saying that T belleved
that some time befors my return the Shah had asked for some
information end advice connected with his visit to India. I
was not yet quite in a position to talk to him sbout this but
hoped that I could have another audience shortly before his
deperture, To this he readily assented,

3 Since he seemed to have nothing in particular to say

to me, I thought I would show him for once that he was not the
only one who listened to the B.Rn.C,, and steal a march on him
if I could. I therefore said that T had just heard two items
of news showing how everybody was getting busy for the Eden-
Fisenhower meeting in Wwashington, The French had issued a
most surprising statement criticael of the Bagded Pact; and th-
Fgyptians had summoned a meeting of the Arab T.eague to discusr
their relations with Irag. I had also heard a local report
which might well have reached his ears, that an effort had
been made by the Saudis to bribe the Iranian press to publish
articles attacking the Iragif{Minister; I understood, and was
pleased to hear, that these attempts had been frustrated.

was difficult to tell how much he knew about the story,

Uy we then went on to tallk sbout the Wgshington meeting.
The Bhah asked anxiously if Mr, Low would have seen the Prin
Minister before his departure. It was evident from the way
spoke that his prineippd interest in Washington at the momeni
was financial aid, He said that the U.S. Apbassador at his’
last meeting with him had been more hopeful and the Shah hir
had agein emphasized the desirability of diseriminating bet
blackmallers and friends in the apportionment of aild. I
the Sheh that I was sure that the Prime Minister and the Fe
Seeretary would do their best, within the limits they thoug
proper, to support the Iranien case.

5. I then asked him point blank how mueh importance he
attached to the United States joining the Ragded Pact at =
early date, ¥e gald that it wonld neturally be useful br
would rather have help from an America which stayed outsei’
Pact than none from one which came in,

6. We talked about the Arab World, The Shah asked m:
knew that the Rgyptisne had been putting it sbout that t!
of the meeting of British Middle Fast Ambassadors in Ton
early Jenuary was to enable Her Yajesty's novernment to

her attitude towards the Ragdad Pact. He added that th
Ambassador in Cairo had been assured by <ir “umphrey Tre

th

[Right-hand edge damaged in original document.]



60 Iran Political Developments, 19541956

- 2 -

that there was ebsolutely no truth in thess stories, I said
that I had never heard such nonsense in my life, If the Bagded
Pect had been prominently discussed at the London meeting my
colleague in Ankera and I would certainly have been invited to
attend,

T The Shah showed some curiosity about Anglo-American
differences about Pyraimi and Saudi Arabla generally and wonder-
ed what the outcome of the Washington meeting on these issues
would bes He elsc cross-examined me a good deal about events
in Jordan during December 1555 and after hearing what I had to
say seid that my account tallied elosely with his own impressions.
He wanted to know what I thought would happen next. I said that
I did not see Jordan coming into the Bagdad Pact in a hurry and

I fencied that our present thinking probably was that the greater
question sbsorbed the lesser, namely if, difficult as it was,

it were possible to get some solution of the Arab-Igrael dispute,
then the whole question of Jordan's position in relation to the
Pact and the resat of the Arab World would fall into place., The
Shah said that he fully agreed and mentioned that M, Fammarskjold
had obtained the impression that the principal parties to the
dispute wanted to bring it to en end i1f possible,

8. T asked the Shah if he could tell me anything about the
Iranian Parliamentary delegation's visit to Moscow. He said that
he was emmoyed that ¥, Saed had sald so many polite things about
the Soviet Union. He really thought that it was quite unnecessary
and it had made a bed impression, The Russiane had done their
best to give the Iranian delegation the impression that they had

a secret link with the British, pointing to articles like that in
the Observer attacking the Bagdad Pact, He thought that the
delegation had been impressed with the long term strength of the
U,S.S,R end its enormous industrial potential., He wondered wheti
particularly if the Russians developed their light industry, a
large Russian export surplus achieved through systematic dumping
would not be one of the principal dangers of Russian policy in the
fature. It was because he believed that it mipht well be that

he thought it necessary for under-developed countries like Iran

to have some industrial development of their owm, so that they
could afford, at least to some extent, to dispense with what the
Russians offered or folsted upon them. For this reason, for
example, he wes anxious to see a steel industry develop here.

If it were for Iran only it would be uneccnomic but in conjunction
with Iraq it would be more practicsble, M+ Ebteha) had discussed
this with the Iragli suthorities after the Bagded Pact Zconomic
Council meeting, I said that I thought the best line for in-
dustrial development in Iren was sbove all in industry relating

tc the processing of sgricultural products. I was sufficiently
of an old time free trader to deplore the development of industries
which had no roots in the soil so to speak, purely for purposes

of self sufficiency.

% I reminded the Shah that during Mr, Low's visit he had
shown an interest in obtsining a relisble British firm to look
into minig possibilities, particularly in the provinece of Kerman,
Events had moved even quicker than I antlcipated., As he knew,
representatives of the Anglo-American Corporation (S, Africa)
were now in Iren and the spesed of their arrival was sn indication
of thelr interest. Everything, however, really depended upon
the results of the préliminary tour by the technical team which
was now taking place. Thers was little doubt as to the existence
of considerable deposits; the question wee whether there were
sufficiently large deposite of one or more minerals in the same
place to make exploitation practicable, It would be the object

of/
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of the preliminary tour to £ind this out and the Sheh could

be satisfled that their advice would be thoroughly reliable,

If the answer were favourable, it would then be necessary to
institute a detailed survey and he must be prepared for this to
take some time -~ at least two years. The Shah wanted to know
what the Americans had to do with the Anglo-Americean Corporation
(8. Africa) and I promised to find out for him, He gave me the
impression that he would have preferred en enterprise which was
purely British in name se well ses in fact.

10, The Shah spoke hopefully about the prospects of in-
ereased oll production, I warned him that:

(a) there had just been & press leak as a re~

- sult of which the public attitude of the
consortiun might eppear more negative than
I thoughfit really was in fact,

(b) there were serious physical 1imitations to
any large incresse in production in the near
future so that the Iranian Government must
not expeet too much.

(o) the most importent thing of all was to en~
sure that the revenue from increased pro-
duction was used to help bslance the budget,

1. I expressed pleasure at the improvement at the Pyrt of
Khorremshahr, The Shah said that he was proposing to make
General Zargham the head of a unified port administration.
When he found a good man who really got on with the job he
believed in trusting him fully and giving him the greatest
possible authority (eompare Bbtehaj I thought). He was fully
eonvinced as to the importence of a fully unified port admi-
nistration. I esked if General Zargham hed yet had an opport-
unity of turning his atiention to improving customs revenue
which it seemed to me was apable of making a substantial cone
tribution to the budgetary problem, The Shah assured me that
he had and that there would be a very substantial incresase as
a result of General 7argham's activities, I reminded the
Sheh that my interest in Khorramshahr was eonnected not only
with our general concern for the economic future of Iran but
also with the import problems of Bpitish contractors operating
here,  The Shsh at once said that he understood that there
were difficulties between Wowlems and the Plan Opganisation,
Could not ¥r, Glossop do something to straighten this out?

I sald that I had already had a discussion with M, Fbtehaj
about this and I had been urging him to have a frank talk
with Mr. nlossop; there were complaints from both sides and

I found it hard to jJudge how much substance there was in what
M, Ebtehaj had to eay. 'What was quite certain was that some
action must be taken to get on with the purchase of plant and
the signing of contracts so that work on the roads eould begin
without delay.

12, This thought prompted the Shesh to end our conversation
on a lyrical note, The spring was the time when road bullding
had to begln, 1t was a time of new life, of growing confidence,
He hoped this spring would see the beginning of many things and
that 1t would open a new page in the history of Tran, I
suggested that E=Hrougisk the firmness and speed with which the
Government had dealt with Fedsysn Islam had hed a good effect,

The/
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The Shah sald that the most remarksble thing was the ab-
gence of any popular protest against the arrest of Kasheni
except for a routine one from a few mullahg, It just showe
ed what en exploded myth these mationalis® were, Thelr
importance in the past had been greatly over rated; he knew
votter now, They had nothing to offer the country;

he had.
R. B. STEVENS

HeM, Ambagsador
Jenuary 30, 1956,
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Sir Roger Stevens
Saving telegram No. 6
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TELHRAN TO FOREIGN OFFICE

Addressed to Foreign Office 3aving telegram No, 6 of
February 1, repeated for information Saving toi-

Washington No, 10 (8
Moscow No. 6 (S
Ankara No, 6 (3
. Bagdad No. 7 (8
Karachi No. g 8
8

POMEF No.

kY
I had an audience with the Shah on January 28, Qur
conversation ranged widely but was more remarkable for its
omissions than its substance. The Shah did not refer dired¢tly
to the Soviet non-aggression offer, nor mske any explicit or

implicit requests, nor express any doubts about British policy

It is true that he lay great empnasis on the need for United
States budgetary aid but even on this subject he was less
insistent than in the past, possibly because he is more
hopeful,

2, His omission to formulate any specific demand even tioupgh
he asked to see me contrasts oddly at first sight with recent
Iranian attitudes expressed through other channels, Thus tue
Foreign hinister asked on the Shah's instructions for "help" in
connexion with the expected Soviet neutrality offensive (my
telegram No. 34). The Prime kinister hinted to me informally
last week that it would be userful if some assurance roegarding
our determination to come to the assistance of lran it attacked
(a subject on which I understand the Government are under
Parliamentary pressure) could be mentioned in' the final
commnigqué of the Washington confercnce, A watered down
version of the seme request was recently made by Court circles
to the American Lmbassy. Tae Irenian delegation to tae
Military Committee mceting of the Bagdad Pact has cletrly becn
instructed to press for a reference, in the comuwuniqué issued
at the conclusion of the meeting, to the common determination
of member states to defend their territorial integrity (refer-
ence Bagdad telegram No. 122 to Foreign Office), Yet there
was no hint of any of this in my conversation with the Shah.

It looks rather as though he had decided to adopt new tactics
in his dealings with us and to avoid associating himsclf
personally with requests which may not be met or are awkv@r&n"?‘ o

to meke, His manner was singulerly friend easy and s
confident. et v W v @ﬂ’;
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CONFIDENTIAL
FROM FOREIGN OFFICE TO_TEHRAN
Cypher/OTP DEPARTMENTAL DISTRIBUTION
No._119
February 7, 1956. D. 9.0 p.m. February 7, 1956,
T ETIATE

CONFILENTIAL
Your telegram Ne. 90 [of February AJ.

I shall net attend Baédad Pact meeting in April, I
agree this mekes it all the mere necessary that I should
meet the Shah. But I cannet delay my return te Lendon.

2. Please discuss with the Iranians how this could bcst
be arrangea.

Ir the Shah cannet get back by March 9, perhsps we
could meet in Karachi, If this is difficult I could
“perhaps ge from Karachi te Bagdad en March 9 and from
Bagdad te Tehran em March 10, leaving feor Ankara early en
Yarch 11, Please telegraph resultef your iisbuss;@n
urgently. ' '

3. I would prefer te stay with Her Majesty's representatives
threughout the tour if that is pessible but I do net want

te give effence and if Iranians want me teo stay w1th them and
are insistent, I leave decisien te you.

L. If you wish te say seomething te Irenians sbout whe will
lead delegation te Bagdad Pact meeting, you may say that I
hope Minister ef Defence will be able te come.
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